MANASSAS TO SEVEN PINES.

BY JOSEPH E. JOHNSTON, GENERAL, C. 8. A.

LREADY in this work [Vol. L, p. 240] 1

have discussed Mr. Davis’s statements

in his “Rise and Fall of the Confederate

~-.. Government,” so far as they bore upon the

responsibilities of the First Bull Run. I

- will now consider his remarks upon the

operations following the withdrawal from

Manassas and including the battle of Seven
Pines.

As to the question of the forces on the
Peninsula Mr, Davis says: “ Early in April
General McClellan had landed about 100,000
men at or near Fortress Monroe?” [*Rise
and Fall,” II., 84]. According to John
Tucker, Assistant Secretary of War, 121,000
Federal troops landed before the 5th of
April. Mr. Davis further says: “At this
time General Magruder oceupied the lower
. Peninsula with his force of seven or eight

FOTRORAE, SnananeoTen thousand men? [IL, 84]. General Ma-
gruder reported that he had eleven thousand men. Mr. Davis also says:

‘ After the first advance of the enemy, General Magruder was reénforced by some troops
from the south side of James River, and General Wilecox’s brigade, which had been previously
detached from the army under General Johnston.”

These reénforcements, together, made about five thousand men [II, p. 85].
He says, on the same page:

“On the 9th of April, General Magruder’s command, thus reénforced, amounted to about
12,000. On that day General Early joined with his division from the Army of Northern Vir-
ginia. . . . . This division had about 8000 officers and men for duty. General Magruder’s
force was thus inereased to about 20,000.”

The same order detached Early’s, D. R. Jones’s, and D. H. Hill’s divisions
from the Army of Northern Virginia, and they were transported as fast as
the railroad trains could carry them. The two latter divisions had together
about 10,000 men, so that Magruder’s army was raised to about 33,000 men,
instead of 20,000, as Mr. Davis said.

Coming to the plan of withdrawal Mr. Davis says:

‘ As soon as it was definitely ascertained that General McClellan, with his main army, was on

the Peninsula, General J. E. Johnston was assigned ) to the command of the Department of the
Peninsula and Norfolk, and directed to proceed thither to examine the condition of affairs there.

| That assignment was made after the conference at Richmond mentioned on page 203.— EpITORS.
202




MANASSAS TO SEVEN PINES. 203

After spending a day on General Magruder’s defensive line, he returned to Richmond and
recommended the abandonment of the Peninsula, and that we should take up a defensive posi-
tion nearer to-Richmond ? [II., 86].

The President has forgotten my recommendation, or misunderstood it at the
time. I represented to him that General McClellan’s design was, almost cer-
tainly, to demolish our batteries with his greatly superior artillery, and turn
us by the river, either landing in our rear or moving directly to Richmond ;
so that our attempting to hold Yorktown could only delay the enemy two or
three weeks. Instead of that, I proposed that all our available forces should
be united near Richmond, Magruder’s troops to be among the last to arrive;
the great army thus formed about Richmond not to be in a defensive position,
as Mr. Davis supposes, but to fall with its whole forece upon McClellan when
the Federal army was expecting to besiege only the troops it had followed
from Yorktown. If the Federal army should be defeated a hundred miles
away from its place of refuge, Fort Monroe, it could not escape destruction.
This was undoubtedly our best hope [see maps, pp. 167 and 188].

In the conference that followed the President took no part. But the Secre-
tary of War, G. W. Randolph, once a naval officer, opposed the abandonment
of the valuable property in the Norfolk Navy Yard ; and General Lee opposed
the plan proposed, because it would expose Charleston and Savannah to cap-
ture. I maintained that if those places should be captured, the defeat of the
principal Federal army would enable us to recover them; and that, unless
that army should be defeated, we should lose those sea-ports in spite of their
garrisons. Mr. Davis says:

¢t After hearing fully the views of the several officers named, I decided to resist the enemy on
the Peninsula. . . . Though General J. E. Johnston did not agree with this decision, he
did not ask to be relieved. . . .7 [IL, 87].

Not being in command, I could not be relieved. My assignment was
included in the order to oppose McClellan at Yorktown ; that order added to
my then command the departments of Norfolk and the Peninsula. It is not
easy to reconcile this increase of my command by the President, with his very
numerous disparaging notices of me.

Greneral Keyes, before the Committee on the Conduct of the War, confirmed
my opinion in saying that * Gloucester must have fallen upon our [MeClel-
lan’s] getting possession of Yorktown, and the York River would then have
been open.”

Mzr. Davis expresses the opinion that “ General McClellan certainly might
have sent a detachment from his army, which, after crossing York River,
could have turned the position at Gloucester Point” [IL, 90]. That would
have been needless; the driving us from Yorktown would have compelled
us to abandon Gloucester Point. Then [Vol. IL, p. 91] he says:

“Whether General MeClellan . . . would have made an early assault . . . or have
waited to batter our earth-works in breach . . . is questionable” [II., 91].

We did not apprehend “battering in breach,” but believed that the heavy
sea-coast rifles to be mounted in the batteries, about completed, would
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demolish our water-batteries, drive us from the intrenchments at Yorktown,
and enable the enemy to turn us by the river. Mr. Davis quotes from one of
his dispatches to me: '

“ Your announcement to-day [May 1st] that you would withdraw to-morrow night takes us
by surprise, and must involve enormous losses, including unfinished gun-boats. Will the safety
of your army allow more time 27 [II., 92].

My own announcement was made April 27th, not May 1st, and reached
Richmond in ten hours; so the President had abundant time to prevent the
withdrawal. The appearance of the enemy’s works indicated that fire from
them might open upon us the next morning. The withdrawal just then was
to avoid waste of life. "With regard to the property abandoned he says:

“The loss of publie property, as was anticipated, was great, the steamboats expected for its
transportation not having arrived before the evacuation was made. From a narrative by General
Early I make the following extract: ‘A very valuable part of the property so lost . . .
consisted of a very large number of picks and spades. . . . All of our heavy guns, includ-
ing some recently arrived and not mounted, together with a good deal of ammunition piled
upon the wharf, had to be left behind *” [II., 94].

The steamboats he mentions were controlled in Richmond. As to the
loss of very valuable picks and spades, Colonel Henry T. Douglas, chief
engineer at Yorktown, wrote to me, May 12th, 1883:

“I was at Yorktown the evening before
the evacuation commenced. I did not see
any quantity of picks and shovels there, and
cannot understand how they could have aceu-
mulated there when they were needed so much
from Redoubt Number Five to Lee’s Mills—
that is, on the extreme right of our line.”

Chambersburg!™

)
e

g T ' _ General D. H. Hill, who command-
P :a e a— | ed in and near Yorktown, said, in his
S T A W SN official report: “ We lost very little
' | by the retreat, save some medical
stores which Surgeon Coffin deserted
in his flight, May 1st. The heavy
i guns were all of the old navy pat-
e G SN S B _ tern” We had very little ammu-
‘ﬁ‘::”f;»x, & g™ & : 5| nition on hand at the time. The
EIRA s heavy guns could have been saved
only by holding the place, which

was impossible.

Mr. Davis says that General Ma-
gruder’s “absence at this moment
was the more to be regretted, as it
; appears that the positions of the
" ot ey P | redoubts he had constructed [be-
bt (R Hncheie i) S B N fore Williamsburg] were not  all
REGION BETWEEN WASHINGTON AND RICHMOND. known to the commanding genera.l B
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[IL, 94]. The positions of the redoubts were “all known.” But to a body
of troops serving merely as a rear-guard, it was necessary to occupy
only those nearest the road. A rear-guard distributed in all the redoubts
intended for an army could have held none of them. The event showed that
the proper redoubts were occupied. It is singular that Mr. Davis’s only notice
of the conflict at Williamsburg, in which our troops behaved admirably,
relates to a detached affair, unimportant, because it had, and could have, no
influence upon the real event. Mr. Davis says of General Early’s account of
his attack upon Hancock at Williamsburg :

‘“He [Early] confidently expresses the opinion that had his attack been supported promptly
and vigorously, the enemy’s force there engaged must have been captured?” [II., 96].

General Early sent an officer to report that there was a battery in front of
him which he could take, and asked authority to do so. The message was
delivered to General Longstreet, who referred the messenger to me, we being
together. I authorized the attempt, but desired the general to look carefully
first. Under the circumstances he could not have expeected support, for he
moved out of reach of it.

Mr. Davis speaks of the employment of sub-terra shells to check a marching
column, and quotes from General Rains as follows:

¢ Fortunately we found in a mud-hole a broken ammunition wagon containing five loaded
shells. Four of these, armed with a sensitive fuse-primer, were planted in our rear, near some

trees cut down as obstructions to the road. A body of the enemy’s cavalry came upon these
sub-terra shells, and they exploded with terrific effect” [IIL., 97].

This event was not mentioned in General D. H. Hill’s report, although
General Rains belonged to his division, nor was it mentioned by our cavalry
which followed Hill’s division. Such anoeccurrence would have been known
to the whole army, but it was not; so it must have been a dream of the
writer. [But see p. 201.—Ep1ToRS.]

Mr. Davis says: “ The next morning after the battle of the 5th, at Williams-
burg, Longstreet’s and D. H. Hill’s divisions being those there engaged”
[II., 98]. But one regiment of Hill’s division was engaged.

In the Federal reports of this action, it is treated as a battle in which the
whole Confederate army was engaged. It was an affair with our rear-guard,
the object of which was to secure our baggage trains. For that it was
necessary to detain the Federal army a day, which was accomplished by the
rear-guard. In those Federal reports a victory is eclaimed.f; The proofs

wounded. . . . Colonel Averell was sent forward at

i General MeClellan’s statement was as follows:
once with a strong cavalry force to endeavor to over-

“ Notwithatanding the report I received fromn General
Heintzelman during the night [of the 5th), that General
Hooker's division had suffered so mueh that it could not
be relied upon next day, and that Kearny’s could not
do more than hold ite own without re&nforcements,
being satisfied that the result of Hancock’s engagement
was to give us possession of the decisive point of the
battle-fleld, Auring the night I countermanded the order
for the advance of the divisions of Sedgwick and Rich-
ardson and directed them to return to Yorktown.

On the next morning we found the enemy’s posltlon
abandoned, and occupied Fort Magruder and the town
of Williamsburg, which was filled with the enmemy's

take the enemy’s rear-guard. He found several guns
abandoned and picked up a large number of stragglers,
but the condition of the roads and the state of his sup-
plies foreced him to return after advancing a few miles.
The supply trains had been forced out of the
roa.du on the 4th and 5th to allow troops and artillery to
pass to the front, and the roads were now in such a state,
afterthirty-six hours’ continuous rain, thatit was almost
impossible to pass even empty wagons over them. Gen-
eral Hooker's division had suffered so severely that it
was in no condition to follow the enemy, even if the
roads had been good. Under these circumstances an
immnediate pursuit was imposgible.” EpI1TORS.
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are: (1) That what deserves to be called fighting ceased at least two hours
before dark, yet the Confederates held the ground until the next morning,
having slept on the field, and then resumed their march; (2) that they fought
only to protect their trains, and accomplished the object; (3) that although
they marched but twelve miles the day after the affair, they saw no indica-
tions of pursuit, unless the seeing a scouting party once can so be called; (4)
that they inflicted a loss much greater than that they suffered; (5) and that
in the ten days following the fight they marched but thirty-seven miles. They
left four hundred wounded in Williamsburg, because they had no means of
transporting them. But they captured five cannon and destroyed the
carriages of five more, and took four hundred prisoners and several colors.
Mr. Davis says:

“In the meantime, Franklin’s division had gone up the York River and landed a short dis-
tance below West Point, on the south side of York River, and moved into a thick wood in the
direction of the New Kent road, thus threatening the flank of our line of march. [MeClellan
wrote that the divisions of Franklin, Sedgwick, Porter, and Richardson were sent from
Yorktown by water to the right bank of the Pamunkey, near West Point.— J. E. J.] Two
brigades of General G. W. Smith’s division, Hampton’s and Hood’s, were detached under the
command of General Whiting to dislodge the enemy, which they did after a short confliet, driv-
ing him through the wood to the protection of his gun-boats in York River” [II., 98].

The Federal force engaged was very much less than a division.

Mr. Davis says, lower down: “The loss of the enemy [in the battle of
Williamsburg] greatly exceeded our own, which was about 1200.” He means
exclusive of General Early’s loss. According te General McClellan’s report
his loss was 2228. General Hooker stated under oath that his was 1700.}
But Kearny’s, Couch’s, and two-thirds of Smith’s division, and Peck’s brigade
were engaged also; a loss of 528 is very small among so many. ]

Mr. Davis says :

“ Soon after General Johnston took posmon on the north of the Chickahominy, accompanied
by General Lee, I rode out to his headquarters. . . . A long conversation followed, which
was so inconclusive that it lasted until late in the night, so late that we remained until the next
morning. As we rode back to Richmond, . . . General Lee confessed himself, as I was
unable to draw from it any more definite purpose than that the policy wasto . . . improve
his [Johunston’s] position as far as practicable, and wait for the enemy to leave his gun-boats,
so that an opportunity might be offered to meet him on land ” [II., 101].

I explained that I had fallen back that far to clear my left flank of the
navigable water, and so avoid having it turned; that as we were too weak to
assume the offensive, and as the position I then held was an excellent one,
I intended to await the Federal attack there. These explanations covered
the whole ground, so that the President had no cause to complain, especially
as he suggested nothing better. And he was satisfied then; for, three days
later, he wrote to me by Colonel G. W. C. Lee: “ . . . If the enemy
proceed as heretofore indicated, your position and policy, as you stated it in

} The total Union loss was 2283, and Hooker’s ments of Kearny's division (2 of Birney’s brigade
Joss, 1575. See tables, p. 200.—EDITORS. and 3 of Berry’s) and 6 of Smith’s division (4 of

} Peck’s brigade (five regiments) belonged to Haneock’s and 2 of Davidson’s) were engaged,

Coueh’s division and was the only brigade of that so the loss (exclusive of Hooker’s) of 528 belonged
division which took part in the battle. Five regi- in fact, fo only 16 regiments.— EDITORS.
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FORT MAGRUDER AND OTHER CONFEDERATE
EARTH-WORKSE IN FRONT OF WILLIAMBBURG.
FROM SEETCHES MADE MAY 6, 1862.

our last interview, seems to me to
require no modification.” This is
the interview called *inconclu-
sive.” Mr. Davis says:

WILLIAM AND MARY COLLEGE, WILLIAMSBURG, USED
AR & UNION HOBPITEL. ¢ After the repulse of the enemy’s gun-

boats at Drewry’s Bluff [May 15th, 1862],

I wrote to Greneral Johnston a letter to be handed to him by my aide, Colonel G. W. C. Lee.

. . I soon thereafter vode out to visit General Johnston at his headquarters, and was

smpm.ed in the suburbs of Richmond, . . . to meeta portion of the light artillery, and
to learn that the whole army had crossed the Chickahominy ” [II., 103].

The army crossed the Chickahominy immediately after the affair of
Drewry’s Bluff. So that if Colonel Lee delivered a letter to me then, he of
course reported to the President that I had crossed the river. And as the
army’s nearest approach to Richmond was on the 17th, his meeting with the
light artillery must have occurred that day. So one cannot understand his
surprise. -

He says on the same page:

““ General Johnston's explanation of this (to me) unexpected movement was, that he thought

the water of the Chickahominy unhealthy. . . . He alsoadverted to the advantage of hav-
ing the river in front rather than in the rear of him.”

The army crossed the Chickahominy because the possession of James
River by the enemy suggested the probability of a change of base to that
river. And it was necessary that we should be so placed as to be able to
meet the United States army approaching either from York River or along the
James. Water was not considered, for we did not use that of the Chicka-
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hominy; nor the position of the little stream behind us, for we had four
bridges over it. The position of Seven Pines was chosen for the center, the
right somewhat thrown back. But the scarcity of water induced me to draw
nearer to Richmond, which was done on the 17th.

Mr. Davis makes statements [IL., 106] regarding the strength of the Army
of Northern Virginia, on the 21st and 31st of May; but as he treats the sub-
ject more minutely farther on, we will examine what he says [p. 153]:

“In the Archives Offices of the War Department in Washington, there are on file some of the
field and monthly returns of the Army of Northern Virginia. . . The following statements
have been taken from those papers by Major Walter H. Taylor, of the staff of (General
Lee.

“ A statement of the strength of the troops under Gleneral Johnston shows that on May 21st,
1862, he had present for duty, as follows: Smith’s division, 10,592; Longstreet’s

division, . . . 13,816; Magruder’s division, . . . 15,680 [240 too little.—J. E. J.]; D. H.
Hill’s division, 11,151 ; cavalry brigade, 1289 ; reserve artillery, 1160;% total effective
men, 53,688.”

The above is from Major Taylor’s memorandum given the President, made
from estimates of brigades, not from returns. Without being accurate, it is
not far from the truth ; corrected as above, Magruder should be given 15,920
men. Mzr. Davis continues: '

“Major Taylor in his work (‘Four Years with General Lee’) states: ‘In addition to the
troops above enumerated, . . . there were two brigades subject to his orders, then stationed in
the vieinity of Hanover Junction, one under the command of General J. R. Anderson, and the
other under the command of General Branch. They were subsequently incorporated into the
division of General A, P. Hill” [Mr, Davis continues] : He estimates the strength of
the two at 4000 effective.

¢« ., . . Previous to the battle of Seven Pines, General Johnston was reénforced by General
Huger's division of three brigades. The total strength of these three brigades, according to the
¢ Reports of the Operations of the Army of Northern Virginia,” was 5008 effectives. Taylor says:
‘Tf the strength of these five be added to the return of May 21st, we shall have 62,696 as the
effective strength of the army under Gieneral Johnston on May 31st, 1862.'”

But according to General Huger’s report to me, there were 7000 men
(instead of 5008) in his three brigades, which does not exceed the ordinary
strength of brigades then (that is to say, three average brigades would have
had not less than 7000 men); and what Mr. Davis calls two brigades of “4000
effective” were, in fact, Anderson’s division sent to observe McDowell’s corps
at Fredericksburg, and so large that General Lee called it the army of the
North, and estimated it as 10,000 men;+r and the second, Branch’s brigade,
greatly strengthened to protect the railroad at Gordonsville, and estimated
by General Lee as 5000 men.] When these troops were united on the Chick-
ahominy, General Anderson’s estimate of their numbers was, of the first, 9000,
and of the other, 4000; 20,000 then, and not 9008, is the number to be added

% According to General Johnston’s memorandum
of May 21st, 1862, “Official Records,” Vol. XI.,
Part I11., p. 531, the reserve artillery numbered
920.— EDITORS.

¥ “ I advised you, April 23d, of certain troops
ordered to report to General Field, viz.: two regi-
ments from Richmond, two light batteries, a bri-
gade from South Carolina, and one from North

Carolina (Anderson’s), in all 8000, in addition to
those [2500.—J. E. J.] previously there.”— Gen-
eral Lee’s lefter, May 8th.—‘Official Records,”
Vol. XI., Part IL,, pp 500-1.—J. E. J.

} ¢ Two brigades, one from North Carolina
(Branch’s) and one from Norfolk, have been or-
dered to Gordonsville to reénforce that line.”—
General Lee’s letter, as above.— J. E. J.



MANASSAS TO SEVEN PINES. | 209

to the return of May 21st, 1862, to show the effective strength of that army
May 31st, viz., 73,928, including the correction of the number in Magruder’s
division.

Referring to our withdrawal from the north side of the Chickahominy to
the vieinity of Richmond, Mr. Davis says:

“ Remembering a remark of General Johnston’s that the Spaniards were the only people who

now undertook to hold fortified towns, I had written to him that he knew the defense of Rich-
mond must be made at a distance from it ” [IL., 120].

Mr. Davis is mistaken. No such letter was sent to me then. We commu-
nicated with each other only orally, excepting a note he sent me to point out
that T had been absent from a skir-
mish the day before. He knew that
the fact that the enemy was then
able to approach Richmond either
from York River or by the James
compelled me to prepare for either
event, by placing the army near the
city. A short time before, he wrote:
“To you it is needless to say that
the defense must be made outside of
the city.” His next sentence, ap-
proving the course I was pursuing,
has been quoted in connection with
what the President said of an “incon-
clusive” conversation with me.

Mr. Davis continues, a little far-
ther down [IL, 120]:

¢ Tt had not occurred to me that he [John- MAJOR-GENEEAL JOHN B. MAGRUDER, C. 5. A.
ston] meditated a retreat which would uncover R AN R
the capital, nor was it ever suspected, until, in reading General Hood’s book, published in 1880,

the evidence was found that General Johnston, when retreating from Yorktown, told his volun-
teer aide, My, McFarland, that ‘he [Johnston] expected or intended to give up Richmond.??

This story of Mr. McFarland is incredible. He, a very rich, fat old man,
could not have been an aide-de-camp. As I did not know him at all until four
years later, and then barely, he could not have been my aide-de-camp. And
lastly, I had no volunteer aide. Besides, the Confederate President had abun-
dant evidence that I had no such expectation, in the fact that, so far from giv-
ing up Richmond, I stood between it and the Federal army for three weeks,
until I was disabled by desperate wounds received in its defense. Under such
circumstances his accusation is, to say the least, very discreditable. E.J.
Harvie, late Colonel and Assistant Inspector-General, C. S. A, now in the
“War Records” Office, Washington, in answer to my question, “Had I ever
a volunteer aide-de-camp named McFarland, or any volunteer aide-de-camp
after leaving Manassas, while serving in Virginia ?” wrote me, under date of
January 28th, 1885, as follows: “To my knowledge, you certainly had not.
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My position as your staff-officer justifies me in saying that Mr. McFarland
was not with you in any capacity.”

Surgeon A. M. Fauntleroy, in answer to my question, “ Had I a volunteer
aide-de-camp in May, 1862, especially when the army was moving from York-
town toward Richmond; or did you ever in that time see an old gentleman
of Richmond, named McFarland, about my headquarters ?” writes:

“T never did. I cannot well see how such a person could have escaped my observation, if
he was there at any time.”

And J. B. Washington, president of the Baltimore and Philadelphia Rail-
way, writes me as follows:

“You had not on your staff after leaving Manassas a volunteer aide-de-camp, especially dur-
ing May, 1862, when the army was between Yorktown and Richmond. I was personally
acquainted with Mr. McFarland of Richmond, but never saw him at our headquarters, nor heard
of his ever having been there. Having served as aide-de-camp on your staff from May, 1861,
to February, 1864, I was in the position to know of the circumstances of which I have written.”

My, Davis says:

¢ Seeing no preparation to keep the enemy at a distance . . . Isent for General Lee .

and told him why and how I was dissatisfied with the condition of affairs. He asked me what
T thought it was proper to do. . . . I answered that MeClellan should be attacked on the
other side of the Chickahominy, before he matured his preparations for a siege of Richmond.
To this he promptly assented. . . . He then said: ‘General Johnston should, of course,
advise you of what he expects or proposes to do. Let me go and see him.! . . . When
General Lee came back, he told me that General Johnston proposed, on the next Thursday, to
move against the enemy, as follows: ‘ General A. P. Hill was to move down on the right flank
and rear of the enemy. General G. W. Smith, as soon as Hill’s guns opened, was to cross the
Chickahominy at the Meadow Bridge, attack the enemy in flank, and, by the conjunction of
the two, it was expected to double him up. Then Longstreet was to ecross on the Mechanics-
ville bridge and attack him in front. From this plan the best results were hoped by both of
us? [I1., 120].

It is certain that General Lee could have had no such hopes from this plan,
nor have been a party to it; for it would not only have sent our army where
there was no enemy, but left open the way to Richmond. For the Meadow
Bridge is 24 miles from Mechaniesville, and that place about 6 miles above
the Federal right. So, after two-thirds of our troops had crossed the Chicka-
hominy, the Federal army could have marched straight to Richmond, opposed
by not more than one-fifth of its number in Magruder’s and D. H. Hill’s
divisions. This plan is probably the wildest on record.

As to what is described [1L., 121], G. W. Smith’s division was never in the
place indicated, and General Longstreet’s was never on the Mechanicsville
road near the bridge, before General Lee crossed the Ohlckahormny to fight
at Gaines’s Mills.

A glance at the map will show how singularly incorrect is Mr. Davis’s
description [IL., 122-3] of the vicinity of Seven Pines and of the disposition
of the Federal troops.

On the 23d of May, Keyes’s Federal corps crossed to the south side of the
Chickahominy, and a detachment attacked Hatton’s Confederate brigade,
which was in observation near Savage’s Station. The detachment was driven
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back, and Hatton’s object having been accomplished (to learn whether the
enemy had crossed the stream), he was recalled. I was advised to hold that
position with the army, but preferred to let the enemy advance, which would
increase the interval between his left and the right, which was beyond the
Chickahominy. MecDowell’s corps of 40,000 meny, was then at Freder-
tcksburg, observed by a division under Brigadier-General J. R. Anderson;
and a large Confederate brigade, under Brigadier-General Branch, was at
Gordonsville.

On the 24th our cavalry was driven across the Chickahominy, prineipally
at Mechanicsville. This extension of the right wing of the enemy to the
‘west made me apprehend that the two detachments (Anderson and Branch)
above mentioned might be cut off. They were therefore ordered to fall
back to the Chickahominy. Near Hanover Court House the brigade was
attacked by Porter’s corps and driven off, escaping with a loss of 66 killed,
and 177 wounded, as Geeneral Branch reported.} A division was formed of
Anderson’s and Branch’s troops, to the command of which Major-General
A. P. Hill was assigned.

That evening General Anderson sent word that his scouts left near Freder-
icksburg reported that McDowell’s troops were marching southward. As the
object of this march was evidently the junction of this corps with the main
army, I determined to attack MeClellan before MeDowell could join him ; and
the major-generals were desired to hold their troops ready to move. But at
night, when those officers were with me to receive instruections for the ex-
pected battle, General J. E. B. Stuart, who also had a detachment of cavalry
observing McDowell’s corps, reported that it had returned to Fredericksburg.
As my object was to bring on the inevitable battle before MecClellan should
receive an addition of 40,000 men to his forces, this intelligence made me
return to my first design — that of attacking McClellan’s left wing on the
Williamsburg road as soon as, by advancing, it had sufficiently increased its
distance from his right, north of the Chickahominy.

The morning of the 30th, armed reconnoissances were made under General
D. H. Hills direction—on the Charles City road by Brigadier-General Rodes,
and on the Williamsburg road by Brigadier-General Garland. The latter
found Federal outposts five miles from Richmond —or two miles west of
Seven Pines — in such strength asindicated that a corps was near. On receiv-
ing this information from General Hill, I informed him that he would lead an
attack on the enemy next morning. Orders were given for the concentration
of twenty-two of our twenty-eight brigades against MecClellan’s left wing,
about two-fifths of his army. Our six other brigades were guarding the river
from New Bridge to Meadow Bridge, on our extreme left. Longstreet and
Huger were directed to conduect their divisions to D. H. Hill’s position on the
Williamsburg road, and G. W. Smith to march with his to the junction

$ MeDowell says, May 22d, 1862, ‘ Official Rec- compute by the basis on which the Confederate gen-
ords,” Vol. XII., Part IIL., p. 214, that he would re- erals always estimated their strength,— EDITORS.
quire subsistence for 38,000 men. This ineluded } Exclusive of the loss of the 28th North Caro-

both effectives and non-effectives. A fairdeduction lina, of Lane’s command, which as far as reported
would leave MeDowell about 35,000 combatants,to  was 7 killed and 15 wounded.*— EDITORS.
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of the Nine-mile road with the New
Bridge road, where Magruder was with
four brigades.
Longstreet, as ranking officer of the
- troops on the Williamsburg road, was
instructed verbally to form D. H. Hill’s
division as first line, and his own as
second, across the road at right angles,
and to advance in that order to attack
the enemy; while Huger’s division
should march by the right flank along
the Charles City road, to fall upon the
enemy’s flank when our troops were
engaged with him in front. Federal
earth-works and abatis that might be
found were to be turned. G. W. Smith
. ) was to protect the troops under Long-
MAJOR-GENERAL BENJAMIN HUGER, C. . A. street from attack by those of the
TR REER Federal right wing across the Chicka-
hominy ; and, if such transfer should not be threatened, he was to fall upon
the enemy on the Williamsburg road. Those troops were formed in four
lines, each being a division. Casey’s was a mile west of Seven Pines, with a
line of skirmishers a half mile in advance; Couch’s was at Seven Pines and
Fair Oaks — the two forming Keyes’s corps. Kearny’s division was near
Savage’s Station, and Hooker’s two miles west of Bottom’s Bridge — the two
forming Heintzelman’s corps.

Longstreet’s command of the right was to end when the troops approached
Seven Pines and I should be present to direct the movements, after which
each major-general would command his own division. The rain began to fall
violently in the afternoon of the 30th, and continued all night. In the morn-
ing the little streams near our camps were so much swollen as to make it
probable that the Chickahominy was overflowing its banks and cutting the
communication between the wings of the Federal army. Being confident that
Longstreet and D. H. Hill, with their forces united, would be successful in the
earlier part of the action against adversaries formed in several lines, with wide
intervals between them, I left the immediate control on the Williamsburg road
to them, under general instructions, and placed myself on the left, where I
could soonest learn of the approach of Federal reénforcements from their
right. For this scouts were sent forward to discover all movements that
might be made by the enemy.)

The condition of the ground and little streams delayed the troops in march-
ing; yet those of Smith, Longstreet, and Hill were in position quite early
enough. But the soldiers from Norfolk, who had seen garrison service only,

b The map of Seven Pines, printed with this celed because of incorrectness as to the positions
paper in “‘ The Century Magazine ” for May, 1885, of the opposing forces on the night of May 31st,
was prepared by the editors, and has been can- as well as on the morning of June 1st.— EDITORS.
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were unnecessarily stopped in their march by a swollen rivulet. This unex-
pected delay led to interchange of messages for several hours between Gteneral
Longstreet and myself, I urging Longstreet to begin the fight, he replying.
But, near 2 o’clock, that officer was requested to go forward to the attack ; the
hands of my wateh marked 3 o’clock at-the report of the first field-piece.\ The
Federal advanced line—a long line of skirmishers, supported by several regi-
ments—was encountered at 3 o’clock. The greatly superior numbers of the
Confederates soon drove them back to the main position of Casey’s division.
It occupied a line of rifle-pits, strengthened by a redoubt and abatis. Here
the resistance was very obstinate; for the Federals, commanded by an officer
of skill and tried courage, fought as soldiers generally do under good leaders;
and time and vigorous efforts of superior numbers were required to drive
them from their ground. But the resolution of Garland’s and G. B. Ander-
son’s brigades, that pressed forward on our left through an open field, under a
destructivefire, the admirable service of Carter’s and Bondurant’s batteries,and
askillfully combined attack upon the Federal left, under General Hill’s direction,
by Rodes’s brigade in front and that of Rains in flank, were at last sucecessful,
and the enemy abandoned their intrenchments, Just then reénforcements
from Couch’s division came up, and an effort was made to recover the position.
But it was to no purpose; for two regiments of R. H. Anderson’s brigade
reénforced Hill’s troops, and the Federals were driven back to Seven Pines.

Keyes's corps (Casey’s and Couch’s divisions) was united at Seven Pines
and reénforced by Kearny’s division, coming from Savage’s Station. But the
three divisions were so vigorously attacked by Hill that they were broken and
driven from their intrenchments, the greater part along the Williamsburg
road to the intrenched line west of Savage’s Station. Two brigades of their
left, however, fled to White Oak Swamp.

General Hill pursued the enemy a mile; then, night being near, he re-formed
his troops, facing toward the Federals. Longstreet’s and Huger’s divisions,
coming up, were formed between Hill’s line and Fair Oaks.

For some cause the disposition on the Charles City road was modified. Two
of General Huger’s brigades were ordered to advance along that road, with
three of Longstreet’s under Brigadier-Gieneral Wilcox. After following that
road some miles, General Wilcox received orders to conduct his troops to the
Williamsburg road. On entering it, he was ordered to the front, and two of
his regiments joined Hill’s troops near and approaching Seven Pines.

When the action just deseribed began, the musketry was not heard at my
position on the Nine-mile road, from the unfavorable condition of the air;
and I supposed for some time that we were hearing only an artillery duel.
But a staff-officer was sent to ascertain the facts. He returned at 4 o’clock
with intelligence that our infantry as well as artillery had been engaged an
hour, and all were pressing on vigorously. As no approach of troops from
beyond the Chickahominy had been discovered, I hoped that the enemy’s

% General D, H. Hill, who directed the onset, In their reports, the Union commanders name

says in his report: “At 1 o’clock the signal guns 12:30 and 1 o’clock as the time of the Confederate
were fired, and my division moved off in fine style,” attack.— EDITORS.
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bridges were impassible, and therefore desired General Smith to move toward
Seven Pines, to be ready to codperate with our right. He moved promptly
along the Nine-mile road, and his leading regiment soon became engaged with
the Federal skirmishers and their reserves, and in a few minutes drove them off.

On my way to Longstreet’s left, to combine the action of the two bodies of
troops, I passed the head of General Smith’s column near Fair Oaks, and
saw the camps of about a brigade in the
angle between the Nine-mile road and
the York River Railroad, and the rear
of a column of infantry moving in
quick time from that point toward the
Chickahominy by the road to the Grape-
vine ford. A few minutes after this, a
battery near the point where this in-
fantry had disappeared commenced fir-
ing upon the head of the Confederate
column. A regiment sent against it
was received with a volley of musketry,
as well as canister, and recoiled. The
leading brigade, commanded by Colonel
Law, then advanced, and so mnch
strength was developed by the enemy
: that General Smith brought his other

LIEUTENANT-GENERAL DANIEL H. HILL, C.S. A. bmga,des into action on the left of

TN 2 e Law’s. An obstinate contest began,
and was maintained on equal terms, although we engaged superior numbers
on ground of their own choosing.

I had passed the railroad a few hundred yards with Hood’s brigade when
the firing commenced, and stopped to see it terminated. But being confident
that the enemy opposing us were those whose camp I had just seen, and there-
fore only a brigade, I did not doubt that Greneral Smith was more than strong
enough to cope with them. Therefore, General Hood was directed to go on in
such a direction as to connect his right with Longstreet’s left and take his
antagonists in flank. The direction of that firing was then nearly south-west
from Fair Oaks. It was then about 5 o’clock.

In that position my intercourse with Longstreet was maintained through
staff-officers, who were assisted by General Stuart of the cavalry, which was
then unemployed ; their reports were all of steady progress.

At Fair Oaks, however, no advantage was gained on either side, and the
contest was continued with unflagging courage. It was near half-past 6
o’clock before I admitted to myself that Smith was engaged, not with a
brigade, as I had obstinately thought, but with more than a division ; but I
thought that it would be injudicious to engage Magruder’s division, our only
reserve, so late in the day.

The firing was then violent at Seven Pines, and within a half hour the
three Federal divisions were broken and driven from their position in con-
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fusion. It was then evident, however, from the obstinacy of our adversaries
at Fair Oaks, that the battle would not be decided that day. I said so to the
staff-officers near me, and told them that each regiment must sleep where it
might be standing when the firing ceased for the night, to be ready to renew
it at dawn next morning.

About half-past 7 o’clock I received a musket-shot in the shoulder, and was
unhorsed soon after by a heavy fragment of shell which struck my breast.
I was borne from the field —first to a house on the roadside, thence to
Richmond. The firing ceased before I had been carried a mile from it. The
confliet at Fair Oaks was terminated by darkness only.

Mr. Davig’s account of what he saw and did at Fair Oaks (IL., 123)
indicates singular ignorance of the topography of the vicinity, as well as of
what was oceurring. He says that the enemy’s line was on the bank of the
river. It was at right angles to and some three miles from it. He says that
soon after his arrival I was brought from the right wounded. This proves
that his “arrival ” was near sunset. He also describes the moving of reén-
forcements from the left to the right. This was not being done. The right
was abundantly strong. He says that he made a reconnoissance — then sent
three couriers one after the other, with an order to Magruder “to send a
force” by the wooded path under the bluff, to attack the enemy in flank and
reverse. If the first courier had been dispatched before the reconnoissance,
and delivered the order to Magruder promptly, his “force,” marching little
more than a mile by the straight Nine-mile road, could searcely have come
up before dark. The route deseribed would have been (if found) five or six
miles long.

The only thing he ought to have done, or had time to do, was postponed
almost twenty hours —the putting General Liee, who was near, in command
of the army.

The operations of the Confederate troops in this battle were very much
retarded by the broad ponds of rain-water,— in many places more than knee-
deep,— by the deep mud, and by the dense woods and thickets that covered
the ground.

Brigadier-General Hatton was among the killed, and Brigadier-Generals
Pettigrew and Hampton were severely wounded. The latter kept his saddle,
and served to the end of the action. Among the killed on the Williamsburg
road were Colonels Moore, of Alabama, Jones, and Lomax. In the two days’
battle, the Confederate loss, so far as the reports indicate, was 6134 (includ-
ing the loss in G. W. Smith’s division, which was 1283); and the Federal loss,
according to the revised returns, was 5031.

Prisoners to the number of 350, 10 pieces of artillery, 6700 muskets and
rifles in excellent condition, a ‘garrison flag and 4 regimental colors, medical,
commissary, quartermaster and ordnance stores, tents and sutler’s property,
were captured and secured.

The troops on the ground at nightfall were: on the Confederate side, 22
brigades, more than half of which had not been in action; and on the Federal
side 6 divisions in 3 corps, two-thirds of which had fought, and half of which



BURYING THE DEAD, AND BURNING HORSES, AT THE TWIN HOUSES NEAR CASEY'S REDOUBT, AFTER THE SECOND DAY’S FIGHT.
FROM A SKETCH MADE AT THE TIME,
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had been totally defeated. Two Federal
divisions were at Fair Oaks, and three
and a half at Savage’s, three miles off,
and half a one two miles nearer Bot-
tom’s Bridge. The Southern troops
were united, and in a position to over-
whelm either fraction of the Northern
army, while holding the other in check.

Officers of the Federal army have
claimed a victory at Seven Pines. The
Confederates had such evidences of
victory as cannon, captured intrench-
ments, and not only sleeping on the
field, but passing the following day
there, so little disturbed by the Federal
troops as to gather, in woods, thickets,
mud, and water, 6700 muskets and
rifles. % Besides, the Federal army
had been advancing steadily until the
day of this battle; after it they made not another step forward, but employed
themselves industriously in intrenching.

In a publication of mine [ “Johnston’s Narrative” ] made in 1874, I at-
tempted to show that General Lee did not attack the enemy until June 26th,
because he was engaged from June 1st until then in forming a great army,
bringing to that which I had commanded 15,000 men from North Carolina
under General Holmes, 22,000 from South Carolina and Georgia, and above
16,000 in the divisions of Jackson and Ewell. My authority for the 15,000
was General Holmes’s statement, May 31st, that he had that number wait-
ing the President’s order to join me. When their arrival was announced, I
supposed the number was as stated.

General Ripley, their best-informed and senior officer, was my authority
for the 22,000 from South Carolina and Georgia. I thought, as a matter of
course, that all of these troops had been brought up for the great crisis. Mr.
Davis is eager to prove that but 2 of the 4 bodies of them came to Richmond
in time. One who, like me, had opportunity to observe that Mr. Davis was
almost invariably too late inreénforcing threatened from unthreatened points,
has no apology for the assumption that this was an exception. General Rip-
ley reported officially that he brought 5000 from Charleston, and explained
in writing that, arriving before them, he was assigned to the command of

MAJOR-GENERAL GUSTAVUS W. 8MITH, C. 8. A.

FROM A PHOTOGRAPH.

24, the Confederates having withdrawn in the night,

¥r The Union position at Fair Oaks was, in gen-
eral, maintained on both days of the battle. Part of
the field east of Seven Pines (but not Casey’s camp,
which was west) was regained on the second day
by General Heintzelman, who reported that ‘“our
troops pushed as far forward as the battle-field of
the previous day, where they found many of our
wounded and those of the enemy.” General Daniel
E. Sickles, who advanced to (fasey’s eamp on June

vor. 11. 15

states in his report that *‘the fields were strewn
with Enfield rifles, marked ‘ Tower, 1362," and mus-
kets, marked ‘ Virginia,” thrown away by the enemy
in his hurried retreat. In the camp oceupied by Gen-
eral Casey and General Couch ¢n Saturday before
the battle of Seven Pines, we found rebel caissons
filled with ammunition, a large number of small-
arms and several bageage wagons.”— Epirons,
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the brigade of 2366, his 5000 being distributed as they arrived in detachments.
Gteneral Lawton stated in writing that he brought about 6000 men from
Georgia to the Valley; but as they had never marched before, they were
incapable of moving at Jackson’s rate, and he estimated that 2500 had been
unable to keep their places when they arrived at Gaines’s Mill, where, as he
states, he had 3500. But the Jaggards rejoined him in two or three days.

I estimated Jackson’s and Ewell’s forces at 16,000, because Ewell told me
that his was 8000, and Jackson’s had been usually about twenty-five per cent.
larger. Mr. Davis puts the joint force at 8000. His authority has stated it
also at 12,000 (see “Personal Reminiscences of General Lee,” p. 6), and this
is far below the fact. My object in this is to show that I consulted respect-
able authorities. Mr. Davis proves that his forces were not well employed.

OPPOSING FORCES AT SEVEN PINES, MAY 31-JUNE 1, 1862.

The composition, losses, and strength of each army as here stated give the gist of all the data obtainable in the Official
Records. K stands for killed ; w for wounded; m w for mortally wounded ; m tor captured or missing; ¢ for captured.

THE UNION ARMY.
Major-General George B. McClelan.

SECOND ARMY CORPFS, Brig.-Gen. Edwin V. Sumner.
FIRST DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. Israel B. Richardson.

First Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Oliver 0. Howard (w), Col.
Thomas J, Parker: 6th N. H., Col. E. E, Cross (w),
Lieut.-Col. S8amuel G. Langley ; 61st N. Y., Col Francis
C. Barlow; 64th N. Y., Col. T. J. Parker, Capt. Rufus
Washburn; 81st Pa., Col. James Miller (k), Lieut.-Col.
Charles ¥. Johnsou. Brigade loss: k, 95; w, 398; m,
64 =06567. Second Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Thomas F. Mea-
gher: 63d N. Y., Col. John Burke; 69th N. Y., Col. Robert
Nugent ; 88th N. Y., Licut.-Col. Patrick Kclly. Brigade
loas: k,7; w, 81; m,1=239, Third Brigade, Brig.-Gen.
Williama H. Frooch: 52d N. Y., Col. Paul Frank; 57th N,
Y., Col. Samuel E, Zook ; 66th N. Y., Col. Joseph C. Pinck-
ney; 53d Pa., Col. John R. Brooke. Brigade loss: k,
32; w, 188; m, 22=242. Awrlillery, Capt. G. W, Hazzard:
B, 18t N. Y., Capt. Rufus D. Pettit; G, 1st N. Y., Capt.
John D, Frank; A and C, 4th U. 8., Cupt. G. W. Hazzard.
BECOND DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. John Sedgwiclt.: .

First Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Willis A. Gorman : 15th Mass.,
Lieut.-Col. John W. Kimball; 1st Minn,, Col. Alfred
Sully; 34th N, Y., Col. James A, Suiter; 82d N. Y., (2d
Militia), Lieut.-Col. Henry W. Hudson; 1st Co. Mass.
Sharp-shooters, Capt. John Sannders; 2d Co. Minn,
Sharp-shooters, Capt. William I". Russell. Brigade loss:
k, 403 w, 153; m, 3=106. Second Brigade, Brif.-Gen.Will-
iam W, Burns: 69th Pa., Col. Joshua T. Owen; 718t Pa.,
Maj. Charles W, Smith; 72d Pa., Col. Do Witt C. Baxter;
106th Pa., Col. Turner G. Morehead. Brigade loss: k,
&; w,80=36. Third Brigade, Brig.-Gen. N. J. T. Dana:
19th Mass., Col. Edward W, Hinle; 20th Mass., Col. W.
Raymond Lee; 7th Mich., Col. Ira R. Grosvenor, Maj.
John H. Richardson ; 42d N, Y., Col. E, C. Charles. Bri-
gade losa: k, 16; w, 95 =111, Ariillery, Col. Charles H.
~ Tompkina: A, 18t R. I, Capt. John A. Tompkins; B,

1st R. L, Capt. Walter O. Bartlett ; G, 1st R. L., Capt.
Charles D. Owen; I, 1st U. 8., Lieut. Edmund Kirby.
Artillery loss: k, 1; w, 4=0. Cavalry: K, 8th N, Y.,
Capt. Riley Johnson.

THIED ARMY CORPS, Brig.-Gen. 8. P. Heintzelman
(commanded the Third and Fourth Corps, combined).
SECOND DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. Jos. Hooker. Staff loss:w, 1.

Seeond Brigade, Brig.-Gon. Daniel E. Sickles: T0th N.
Y. (1st Excelsior), Maj. Thomas Holt; Tist N. Y. (2d Ex-
celsior), Col. George B. Hall; 724 N. Y. (3d Excelsior),
Col. Nelgon Taylor; 73d N. Y. (4th Excelsior), Maj. John
D. Moriarty, Capt. Charles B. Elliott; 74th N. Y. (5th
Excelsior), Col. Charles K. Graham. Brigade loss: k,
7; W,61; m, 6="4. Third Brigade, Biig.-Gen. Francis
E. Patterson, Col. Bamuel H. Starr: sth N. J., Col.

Samuel H, Starr; Maj. John Ramsey; 6th N. J., Col.
Gershom Mott. Brigadeloss: k, 9; w, 67; m, 3="79. Arfil-
lery, Maj. Charles 8. Wainwright: D, lst N. Y., Cupt.
Thos. W. Osborn; 6th N, Y., Capt. Walter M. Bramhall.
THIRD DIVISION, Brig-Gen. Phil. Kearny. Staffloss: w, 1.

TFirst Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Charles D. Jameson: 87th N.
Y., Col. Stephen A. Dodgo (w), Lieut.-Col. Richard A.
Bachia; 57th Pa., Col. Charles T. Campbell (w), Lieut-
Col. E. W. Woods; 63d Pa., Col. Alexander Hays; 105th
Pa., Col. Amor A. McKnight (w). Brigade loss: I, 86;
w, 207; m, 36=419. Second DBrigade, Brig.-Gen. David
B. Birney, Col. J. H. H. Ward: 8d Me., Col. Henry G.
Staples; 4th Me., Col. Elijah Walker; 38th N. Y., Col. J.
H. H. Ward, Maj. William H. Baird ; 40th N.Y., Lieut.-Col.
Thomas W, Egan. Brigadeloss: k, 23; w, 174; m, 10 = 207.

Third Brigade, Brig.-Gen, Hiram G. Berry: 2d Mich.,
Col. Orlando M. Poe; 3d Mich., Col. 8. G. Champlin (w),
Lieut.-Col. A. A. Stevens; 5th Mich,, Col. Henry D.
Terry; 87th N. Y., Lieut-Col. Gilbert Riordan (tcrapo-
rarily), Col. Samuel B, Hayman, Brigade loss: k, 84; w,
844; m, 36 = 464.

FOURTH ARMY CORFPS, Brig.-Gen. E. D. Keyes.

Cavalry, 8th Pa., Col. D. McM. Gregg. Loss: w, 2;1n,
2=4,

FIRST DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. D. N, Couch. Stafi'loss: w, 1.

First Brigade, Brig,-Gen. John J. Peck: 55th N, Y.,
Lieut.-Col. Louis Thourot; 62d N. Y., Col. J. Lafayette
Riker (k), Lieut.-Col. David J. Nevin; 93d N. Y., Col. J.
M. MeCarter (w), Capt. John E. Arthur; 102d Pa., Col.
Thomas A. Rowley (w), Lieut.-Col. J. M. Kinkead. Bri-
gzade loss: k, 47; w, 236; m, 6¢ = 347. Second Brigade,
Brig.-Gen. John J. Abercrombie: 65th N. Y. (1st U. 8.
Chasseurs), Col. John Coohrane; 67th N, Y. (I1st Long
Island), Col. Jnlius W. Adams; 234 Pa., Col. Thomas H,
Neill; 81st Pa., Col. David H. Williams; 615t Pa., Col.
Oliver H. Rippey (k), Capt. Robert L. Orr. Brigade losa:
I, 124; W, 433; m, 67 =624,

Third Brigade, Brig.-Gen., Charles Devens, Jr. (w),
Col. Charles H. Tnnes: 7th Mass,, Col. David A. Russell;
10th Mass., Col. Henry 8. Briggs (w), Capt. Ozro Miller;
36th N. Y., Col. Charles H. Innes, Lieut.-Col, D. E. Hun-
gerford. Brigade loss: k, 34; w, 136; m, 8 =178. Artil-
lery, Maj. Robert M. West: C, 1st Pa., Capt. Jeremiah
McCarthy; D, 1st Pa., Capt. Edward H. Flood; E, 1st Pa.,
Capt. Theodore Miller; H, 1st Pa., Capt. James Brady.
Artillery loas: k, 2; w, 12=14.

SECOND DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. Silas Casey.

Provost Guard: w, 1; 1,2 =3,

First Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Henry M. Naglee: 11th Me.,
Col. Harris M. Plaisted; s6th N. Y., Lieut.-Col. James
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Jourdan; 100th N, Y., Col. James M, Brown (k); 52d4 Pa.,
Col. John C. Dodge, Jr.; 104th Pa., Col. W. W, H, Davis
(w), Capt, Edward L. Rogers. Brigade loss: k, 8%; w,
383 ; m, 167 = 639, Second Brigade, Brig.-Gen, Henry W.
wessells: 96th N. Y., Col. Junes Fairman; 85th Pa., Col.
Josiua B. Howell; 101st Pa., Lient.-Col. David B. Morris
(w), Capt. Charles W, May ; 103d Pa., Maj. A. W. Gazzam.
Brigade loss: k, 36; W, 264; m, 59 = 358. Third Brigade,
Brig.-Gen, Innis N. Palmer : 818t N, Y., Lieut.-Col. Jucob
J. De Forest (w), Capt. W. C. Raunlston; 85th N. Y., Col.
J. 8. Belknap; 92d N. Y., Col.Lewis C, Hunt (w), Lieut.-
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Col. Hiram Anderson, Jr.; 98th N, Y., Lieut.-Col. Charles
Durkee. Brigade loss: k, 46; w, 251 ; m, 95= 302. A»rtil-
lery, Col. Guilford D. Bailey (k), Maj. D. H, Van Valken-
burgh (k), Capt. Peter C. Regan: A, 1st N. Y., Licut.
George P. Hart; H, 1st N. Y., Capt, Joseph Spratt (w),
Lient. Charles E. Mink; Tth N. Y., Capt. Peter C. Regan ;
8th N. Y., Capt. Butler Iitch. Artillery loss: k, 7; w,
28; m. 2=237. Unalluched: E, 1st U. 8. Avtillery, Lieut.
Alauson M. Randol, Loss:k,1; w,8=4.

The total Union loss (Revised Ofticial Returns) was 790
kkilled, 3594 wounded, and 647 eaptured or missing = 5031.

THE CONFEDERATE ARMY.
General Joseph E. Johnaton (w); Major-General Guatavus W, 8mith; General Robert E. Lee.

RIGHT WING, Major-General James Longstreet.
LONGSTREET'S DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. Richard H. Ander-

son (temporarily).

Kemper's Brigade, Col, James L. Kemper: 18t Va.; 7th
Va.; 11th Va.; 17th Va., Col. M. D, Corse. Anderson’s (R.
H.) Brigade, Col. Micah Jenkins: s5th 8. C., Col. J. R. R.
Giles (lt), Lieut.-Col. A. Jackson; 6th 8. C., Col. John
Bratton (w and ¢), Lieut,-Col. J. M. Steedman ; Palmetto
(8. C.) Sharp-shooters, Maj, William Anderson ; Va. Bat-
tery, Capt. Robert M. Stribling. Pickelt's Brigade, Brig.-
Gen. George I. Pickett: sth Va., Lieut.-Col, N, Berkeley ;
18th Vu., Col. R. E. Withers; 19th Va., Col. John B.
Btrange; 28th Va., Col. William Watts: Va. Battery,
Capt. James Dearing. Brigade loss: k and w, 350, Wil-
cox’s Brigade, Brig.-Gen, Cadmus M. Wilcox : 0th Ala.,
Lieut.-Col. Stephen I°, Hale; 10th Ala., Maj. J. J. Wood-
ward; 11th Ala., Col. Sydenhamn Moore (m w); 19th
Miss., Maj. John Mullins, Brigade loss: k and w, 110.
Colslon’s Brigade, Brig.-Gen. R. T. Colston: 13th N. C.;
14th N. C.; 8d Va. Pryor's Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Roger A.
Pryor: 8th Ala.; 14th Ala.; 14th La.

HILL'S DIVISION, Maj.-Gen. Daniel H. Hill.

Garland's Brigade, Brig.-Gen. SBamuel Garland, Jv.:
21 Fla., Col, E. A, Perry; 2d Miss. Battallon, Lieut.-Col.
John G, Taylor; sth N. C., Col. D, K. McRae, Maj. P. J.
Sinelair; 23d N. €., Col. Daniel H, Christie, Lient.-Col.
R. D, Johnstown (w) ; 24th Va., Maj. Richard L. Maury (w);
38th Va., Col. E. C. Edmonds ; Ala. Battery, Capt. J. W.
Bondurant. Brigade loss: k, 98; w, 600; m, 42=T40.
Rodes's Brigade, Brig.-Gen. R. E. Rodes (w), Col. John
B. Gordon: 5th Ala., Col. C. C. Pegues; 6th Ala., Col.
Joln B. Gordon ; 12th Ala., Col. R. T, Jonea (k), Lieut.-
Col, B. B. Gayle; 12th Miss., Col. W. H, Taylor; 4th Va.
Battalion, Capt. C. C. Otey (k), Capt. John R. Bagby;
Va. Battery, Capt. Thomas H. Carter. Brigade loss: k,
241; w, 853; m, 5=1009. Raing's Brigade, Brig.-Gen.
Gabriel J. Rains: 13th Ala., Col, D. B. Fry (w); 26th
Ala., Col. E. A, O'Neal (w) ; 6th Ga.; 23d Ga. Feathersion's
Brigade, Col. George B. Anderson: 27th Ga., Col. Levi
B. Bimith (w), Lieut.-Col. Charles T. Zachry; 28th Ga.,

RELATIVE STRENGTH OF

The following synopsis, from the ‘* Records ” and
other data, is by General Gustavus W, Smith :

The Union Army numbered 98,008, of which about
5000 were on detached service: ¢ Present for dnty,”
Summner's Corps, 17,412; [eintzelman's Corps, 16,999;
Keyes's Corps, 17,132 ; Porter’s Corps, 17,646; Franklin's
Corpa, 19,680; Engineers, Cavalry and Provost Guard,
4767. Each corps was composed of two divisions of
nearly equal strength.

The aggregate prescut for duty in the three Union
Corps that were engaged was 51,643. The oumber * in
close action on the Williamsburg road, May 31st, was
about 11,853, with full complement of artillery; these
included 4263 in Casey’s division, about 4000 in Couch’s
division, and about 3800 in Kearny's division. Near
Fair Oalis, there were engaged about 9000, with 10 pieces
of artillery : these included Bedgwick’s division, about
7000, and 4 regiments of Couch’s division, about 2000

The Union troops engaged, June 1st, numbered about
14,000 : Richardson’s division, about 7000, with 4 bat-
teries; 1 brigade of Kearny's division, about 1600; and

Capt. John N, Wileox; 4th N. €., Maj. Bryan Griwes;
49th Va., CoL. William Smith (w). Brigade loss: k, 149;
W, G80; m. 37 =B866.

HUGER’S DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. Benjamin Huger,

Armistend’s Brigade, Brig.-Gen, Lewis A, Armistead :
5th Va. Battalion; 0th Va., Col. D. J. Godwin (w); 14th
Va.; 53d Va., Col. H. B. Tomlin. Mahone's Brigade,
Brig.-Gen., William Mahone : 3d Ala., Col. Tennent Lo-
max (k) ; 12th Va. ; 418t Va. Blanchard's Brigade, Brig.-
Gen. A. G. Blanchard : 3d Gu. ; 4th Ga.; 22d Ga.; 1st La,

ARTILLERY (uot previously mentioned): La. Battery,
Capt. Vietor Maurin ; Va. Battery, Capt. David Watson,

Total loss of the Right Wing, as vreported by Gen. Long-
street: 816 killed, 3739 wounded, and 296 missing = 4851.

LEFT WING, Major-General Gustavus W. Smith,
Cowricrs : Capt. R. W. Carter's Co. 18t Va. Cav.

SMITH'S DIVISION, Brig.-Gen. W. H. C. Whiting (tempo-
rarily).

W hiting's Brigade, Col. E. McIver Law : 4th Ala.; 2d
Miss, ; 11th Miss.; 6th N, C. Brigade loss: k, 28; w,
286; W, 42=346. Hood's Brigade, Brig.-Gen. John B.
Hood : 18th Ga., Col. W. T. Wofford, or Lient.-Col. 8, Z,
Ruft; 18t Tex., Col. A. T. Rainey; 4th Tex., Col. John
Marshall; 5th Tex., Col. James J. Archer, Brigade loss:
w, 13. Hampton's Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Wade Hampton,
(W) : 14th Ga.; 196h Ga.; 16th N, C.; Hampton (8, C.) Le-
gion, Lieut.-Col, M. W. Gary. Brigade loss: k, 45; w,
284 =320, Hallon's Brigade, Brig.-Gen. Robert Hatton
(k) : 18t Tenn.; Tth Teun.; 14th Tenn. Brigade loss: k,
44; W, 187; m, 18= 244, Pelligrew’s Brigade, Brig.-Gen.
J. J. Pettigrew (w and ¢): Arkansas Battalion; 36th
Ga.; 22d N. C.; 47th Va. Brigade loss: k, 47; w, 240;
m, 4= 341,

The * Officinl Records” indicate that Semmes’s and
Grifith’s brigades were in position for action, but were
vot actnally engaged, The total loss of the Left Wing, as
reported by General Smith, was 164 killed, 1010 wounded,
and 100 missing = 1283, The aggregate Confederate loss
ou May 81st and June 1st was 980 killed, 4749 wounded,
and 405 missing = 6134.

THE OPPOSING FORCES.

1 brigade and 2 regiments of Hooker's division, abont
3500; there was no artillery with Kearny and Hooler.

General Johnston estimates the strength of his arwy
at 73,928, Other authorities place it at 62,606. The
“(Official Recorda” show that, on the 21st of May,
Johuston's army was 53,688: S8mith's division, 10,502;
Longstreet's division, 13,816; Magruder's division
(neluding D. R. Jones's division), 15,920; D. H. Hill's
division, 11,151; cavalry and reserve artillery, 2209.
Before May 81st, this force was inereased by the arival
of A. P. Hill's division (estimated), 4000, and Huger'a
division (estimated), 5008. One of the five brigades of
D. H. Hill’s divigion was detached before May 31st.

The aggregate of the 4 Confederate divisions engaged
was about 39,000. The number “ in elose action ” on the
Willinmsburg road, May 31st, was about 9520, with 2
batteries—ineclnding 7580 in D. H. Hill's division, and 1950
of Longstreet's division. Near Fair Oaks, 4 brigades of
G. W, 8mith’s division (under Whiting), 8670; no artillery.

The number of Confederates engaged, June 1, was about
8300 : in Huger's division about 3300; in Longstreet’s di-
vision, about 5000. Noartillery was advanced into action.



